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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
GALVESTON DIVISION

RICARDO CHILDRESS, }
TDCJ-CID NO.433105, }
Plaintiff, }
V. } CIVIL ACTION G-05-467
}
ANTHONY COLLINS, et al., }
Defendants. }

OPINION ON DISMISSAL

Plaintiff Ricardo Childress, an inmate incarcedatn the Texas Department of
Criminal Justice-Correctional Institutions DivisiofTDCJ-CID”), seeks declaratory and
compensatory relief pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983tHie pain that he allegedly suffered as a
result of his job assignments. (Docket Entry Ny.3M@efendants Anthony J. Collins, Dr.
Charles D. Adams, and Dr. Kwabena Owusu have &lewbtion for summary judgment (Docket
Entry No.42), to which plaintiff has filed a resgan (Docket Entry No.50). For the reasons to
follow, the Court will grant defendants’ motion feummary judgment and dismiss plaintiff's
claims against all defendants.

. CLAIMS

Plaintiff, who has been incarcerated in TDCJ-GlBce October, 1986, claims to
suffer from seizures due to a Vietnam war injupgradylolysis of the LS Spine with a partially
deformed six “vertebra and arthoarthoritis,” degatiee joint disease, acid reflux disease, and
carpal tunnel syndrome. (Docket Entry No.1). isfirst complaint, filed on August 26, 2005,

he complained of the following:

! Defendants have advised the Court that Case Marfageert Harris died on March 29, 2008. (Docketr§n
No0.40).
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On November 8, 2004, plaintiff returned to ther&k Unit of TDCJ-CID from a
bench warrant and was assigned to work in the e¢gnnéd., page 7). Plaintiff complained
about the assignment because the work conflicted tis “permanent” medical restrictions.
(Id.). Dr. Owusu corrected the error and plaintiff wassigned to the medical utility squad.
(Id.). On July 25, 2005, plaintiff was sent to thaelle Unit to be fitted for new glasses; he
returned to the Terrell Unit on July 27, 200%d.X. Two days later, plaintiff learned that he had
been assigned to the cannerid.)( On August 1, 2005, plaintiff complained to Wan Collins
and Case Manager Harris that the work assignmenflicted with his permanent medical
restrictions. Id.). On August 5, 2005, plaintiff requested to sedoetor to assist him in being
reassigned to a more appropriate work statukd.). ( He was informed that the medical
department did not assign jobs and that he shautd the chain of commandlid(). On August
8, 2005, plaintiff sent another request to see @alpwhich was denied.ld.). On August 9,
2005, plaintiff complained to Unit Health Adminigtor Andrepont about the job assignment,
who told him that this complaint needed to be askld by security because the medical staff
did not assign jobs.Id.). The same day, plaintiff again requested toasdector and the request
was denied by a response directing him to discaegdb assignment with the Classification
Committee. Id.).

On August 10, 2005, plaintiff reported to work #wat he could talk with
Industrial Specialist IV Linda Petersonld.( page 8). Plaintiff told Peterson that his iestns
were permanent and she tried to assign him to #mmery tool, where it was not too hot.
Plaintiff's offense class, however, did not allouck assignment.ld.). Consequently, plaintiff

suffered constant lower back pain as he workedi®helet in the cannery for about seven hours.

(1d.).



On August 11, 2005, plaintiff did not report t@mk but went to the infirmary to
talk to Nurse Hennenberg, who refused to let himmaéoctor. I¢l.). Plaintiff complained by an
I-60 to Warden Collins that he had been denied sscte the doctor. I1¢.). On August 12th,
Hennenberg again denied plaintiff access to a dost plaintiff tried to talk to Physician’s
Assistant Jung. Id.). He too, refused to let plaintiff see a doctdrd.). On August 13, 2005,
plaintiff attempted to resolve the job assignmat@ndma with Nurse Pacheco, but she told him
to see Classification and to send another sickregliest to Physician’s Assistant Bouttekl.)(
On August 15, 2005, plaintiff was instructed to Jiglg up Tylenol at pill window.” [d.).
Plaintiff claims that Tylenol is ineffective.ld).

Plaintiff did not report to work on August 15,3 consequently, he was served
with a disciplinary case. Id., page 9). On August 16, 2005, plaintiff reportedhe cannery.
(Id.). While working a vegetable conveyer, he suffeaethild seizure and nearly passed out.
(Id.). Later that afternoon, he talked to Nurse Habweeg in the infirmary, but she refused to let
him see a doctor.ld.). She did not take his blood pressurel.)(

On August 17, 2005, plaintiff attempted to talkhvBouttee to request that he
carry an |-60 to Peterson, advising her that pl&imtould not turn out for work anymore
because his health was in dangdd.)( Bouttee refused, so plaintiff had an inmateycéhe I-

60 to Peterson.ld.).

On August 18, 2005, plaintiff requested to see @wuso, to review his medical
records, and to discover the person who had remees@n of his nine permanent work
restrictions. Id., page 10). The same day Physician’'s Assistang Baw plaintiff at the
infirmary and advised him to drink plenty of wafer the seizures but refused to reinstate the
medical restrictions. Plaintiff also filed a stépgrievance because Collins and Harris had
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refused to grant his request for restoration ofdgoanduct credit that was unlawfully forfeited in
1992. (d.). The next day, the grievance was returned witiottion that the issue was not
grievable. (d.).

On August 19, 2005, plaintiff's left leg went nbnwhile he was in the law
library. (d.). He submitted a sick call request to see Dru€w (d.) Plaintiff continued to try
to talk with medical personnel about the removaimedical restrictions. 1d.). On August 22,
2005, plaintiff sought assistance from Lt. Zaratesé¢e Dr. Owusu.ld.). Zarate told plaintiff to
see the nurses; plaintiff told him that the nunsese intercepting his sick call requests. Zarate
took the sick call request to Dr. Owusu, but Owdglinot see plaintiff. 1¢.).

On August 23, 2005, plaintiff complained to Cééanager Harris, who told him
that he could do nothing for him and to stop hamgskim. (d.). Harris threatened, “I will
show the reverse and you will know what it is. sTisi an issue for court action.td().

Plaintiff claims this “punishment” started afteg sent a letter to Warden Collins
in July 2005, requesting a “nunc pro tunc” resioratof good conduct credit that were
unlawfully forfeited in 1992, and after plaintifféd a civil suit against Warden White and Major
Rains in 1989, and after he filed a step one grievance complgirof the cannery work
assignment in mid-August, 2005ld.( page 9). Plaintiff sought declaratory and icfive relief
against defendants on the following grounds:

1. Warden Anthony J. Collins and Case Manager Robettd&ris

refused to ensure that plaintiff was medically sifsd and to
transfer him to a job assignment consistent withnpiff's medical

restrictions;

2. Industrial Specialist IV Linda M. Peterson refusednform Harris
that plaintiff's job assignment was hazardous tontiff's health;

2 See Childress v. Adams, Civil Action No.6:89-00602 (E.D. Tex., Nov. 5,98) (dismissed as frivolous).
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3. Nurse Deborah Hennenberg twice refused to let fiipee a
physician regarding his medical restrictions;

4, Physician’s Assistant Felicia Bouttee refused toem plaintiff's
medical restrictions;

5. Nurse Alice Pacheco told plaintiff to see classifion about his
job assignment; and,

6. Physician’s Assistant Paul Jung refused to heaintgfes

complaint about the nurses refusing to allow hinsée a doctor
and refused to correct plaintiff's permanent waektrictions.

(1d.).

In his First Supplemental Complaint, plaintiff ugiit relief from the same
defendants and added two new defendants—Drs. KwaBenOwusu and Charles Adams.
(Docket Entry No.17). Plaintiff claimed that in Mamber 2004, Dr. Adams arbitrarily removed
eight of his medical restrictions without condugtia physical examination so that defendants
Collins and Harris could assign plaintiff to workgardless of his medical conditionld.( page
3). Plaintiff complained to Dr. Owusu, who calliget UCC Chief, Case Manager Robert Harris.
(Id., page 4). Thereafter, plaintiff was reassignedhie medical utility squad and was not
required to work. I¢.).

Plaintiff also complained that on July 27, 20@5en he returned from the Estelle
Unit eye clinic, he was assigned to work in thengag. (d.). Plaintiff complained to no avall
and twice refused to work, for which he received tlisciplinary cases.ld.). On September 8,
2005, Collins, Harris, and Mr. Nix, the cannery ewysory, agreed that plaintiff should be re-
assigned to the laundryld(). On October 12, 2005, plaintiff saw Dr. Owu$wat the “painful
work assignment.” I¢.). Dr. Owusu refused to reclassify plaintiff ewough he was aware of
plaintiff's serious physical ailments.ld(). Owusu, however, called Harris and recommended

that plaintiff be reassigned to the medical utiitjuad, but Harris refusedld(). Plaintiff claims
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that Owusu told him that someone from the UCC—eit@ellins or Harris—had called the
medical department and asked that inmates be nilgdreglassified so that they could be
assigned to work.Id.).

On February 10, 2006, Dr. Owusu informed plaintifat the x-rays taken on
December 14, 2005, confirmed that plaintiff had etegyative joint disease and “arthoartritis” in
the lower back L4 and L5 levelsld(). Dr. Owusu, however, still refused to reclaggifaintiff
according to his “painful medical condition.1d().

In his Answer to Court Ordered Interrogatorieledf December 1, 2006, plaintiff
stated his belief that Collins and Harris retatiaggainst him by assigning him to work in the
cannery in spite of his medical restrictions beeaus declared himself to be a Native American.
(Docket Entry No.22). Plaintiff claimed that Coléi and Harris, who are African-American, did
not look favorably on Native Americansld( page 1). Plaintiff also complained that he eadu
unnecessary pain in his lower back from an oldrinjpecause of the cannery jobld.J. He
attached a copy of a step 2 grievance in which draptained that working in the laundry
aggravated an old injury, which caused him to sufi@ck pain, shoulder pain, and wrist pain.
(Id., pages 2-3). The response to the grievanceateticthat he was appropriately assigned in
accordance with his medical restrictiontd.,(page 3).

In April 2007, plaintiff sought to amend and slgwpent his original pleadings.
(Docket Entry No.24). He indicated in said mottbat he was assigned to work in the cannery
from July 29, 2005 to September 8, 2005, and inlae@dry from September 10, 2005, until
November 17, 2006.1d., page 2). Because it was unclear what reliehpthwas seeking, the
Court ordered plaintiff to file an amended compiaamd cautioned him that such complaint
would supersede any and all other complaints mi¢ase. (Docket Entry No.29).
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Plaintiff filed the pending amended complaint @enuary 30, 2008. (Docket
Entry No.30). In the amended complaint, plairaifeges the following:

Before July 29, 2005, he was medically unassidreszhuse of health restrictions
arising from his medical conditionsld(, page 6). On July 29, 2005, he was assignedrtnaery
because on November 16, 2004, Dr. Adams removekt @fy plaintiff's permanent work
restrictions without an examinationld( page 7). Plaintiff claims he tried to resolhe error
but Dr. Owusu told him that he did not assign jabd that he should check with the UCTd.)(
Plaintiff checked with Case Manager Harris and Vear@ollins, both of whom told him that the
medical department was the problertd.)( When plaintiff finally saw Dr. Owusu, he re@gsto
restore the eight medical restrictiondd.X. The work in the cannery aggravated the paihisn
left shoulder and lower backld(, page 5).

Plaintiff further alleges that Dr. Owusu has s=fd his request to have someone
perform carpal tunnel surgery on plaintiff's lefarid. (d., page 7). Plaintiff complains that
Owuso refused to refer him to the University of d@Medical Center (“UTMB”) in Galveston
for nasal blockage that plaintiff experienced dgran bout with the flu, although, he concedes
that Owuso provided medication for the blockagdair@ff maintains that Owuso has yet to
prescribe an effective medication for plaintiff ggaing pain his right heel.ld.).

Plaintiff also alleges that defendants Linda Pete, Deborah Hennenberg,
Felicia Bouttee, Alice Pacheco, and Paul Jung “hapeatedly interfered with my trying to
[indecipherable] doctor and get effective mediaaatment of my medical needs.” d.).
Plaintiff claims that all these named defendantdlectively and independently, intended to
cause him harm and to cause him to suffer and endminecessary pain, or to punish him in
retaliation for refusing to endure the unnecesgaiy in the work to which he was arbitrarily
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assigned. I€l., pages 7-8). Plaintiff claims defendants bredctreir duty to plaintiff with
respect to his health, safety, and permanent mlechealitions in violation of TDCJ policy and
the Eighth Amendment. Id., page 8). He further claims that defendants gioed to impose
upon him willful mental anguish, pain, and sufferiwhile he was assigned to the cannery and
the laundry. Id.). Plaintiff seeks compensatory and declaratdigfre(ld., page 9).

Defendants Collins, Adams, and Owusu move forreany judgment on grounds
that they are entitled to qualified and Eleventh eélhgiment immunity and that they did not
deprive plaintiff of any right, privilege or immugi necessary to support a constitutional
violation under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. (Docket Entry.4R).

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

To be entitled to summary judgment, the pleadiags summary judgment
evidence must show that there is no genuine isstie any material fact and the moving party is
entitled to judgment as a matter of lawebFR. Civ. P. 56(c). The moving party bears the
burden of initially pointing out to the court thadis of the motion and identifying the portions of
the record demonstrating the absence of a gensse ifor trial. Duckett v. City of Cedar Park,
Tex., 950 F.2d 272, 276 (5th Cir. 1992). Thereaftdre‘burden shifts to the nonmoving party to
show with ‘significant probative evidence’ that theexists a genuine issue of material fact.”
Hamilton v. Seque Software, Inc., 232 F.3d 473, 477 (5th Cir. 2000) (quoti@gnkling v. Turner,

18 F.3d 1285, 1295 (5th Cir. 1994)). The Court rgegnt summary judgment on any ground
supported by the record, even if the ground israised by the movantJ.S. v. Houston Pipeline

Co., 37 F.3d 224, 227 (5th Cir. 1994).



[ll. DISCUSSION

The Civil Rights Act of 1866 creates a privatghti of action for redressing the
violation of federal law by those acting under cobd state law. 42 U.S.C. § 198Bligra v.
Warren City Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ., 465 U.S. 75, 82 (1984). Section 1983 is noffiseource
of substantive rights but merely provides a methad vindicating federal rights conferred
elsewhere.Albright v. Oliver, 510 U.S. 266, 271 (1994). To prevail on a secli®83 claim, the
plaintiff must prove that a person acting under ¢béor of state law deprived him of a right
secured by the Constitution or laws of the Unite¢attes. Blessing v. Freestone, 520 U.S. 329,
340 (1997). A section 1983 complainant must supgos claim with specific facts
demonstrating a constitutional deprivation and may simply rely on conclusory allegations.
Schultea v. Wood, 47 F.3d 1427, 1433 (5th Cir. 1995). Thus forimil# to recover, he must
show that the defendants deprived him a right guaeal by the Constitution or the laws of the
United StatesSee Danielsv. Williams, 474 U.S. 327, 329-31 (1986).

A. Eleventh Amendment Immunity

Suits for damages against the state are barrethdyEleventh Amendment.
Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. 159, 169 (1985). Under the Eleventh Adnegnt, an
unconsenting state is immune from suits brougtiedteral courts by her own citizens as well as
by citizens of another stateEdelman v. Jordan, 415 U.S. 651, 663 (1974). Absent waiver,
neither a state nor agencies acting under its abate subject to suit in federal courRuerto
Rico Aqueduct and Sewer Auth. v. Metcalf & Eddy, Inc., 506 U.S. 139, 144 (1993). This bar
remains in effect when state officials are sueddamages in their official capacityCory v.

White, 457 U.S. 85, 89 (1982).



All defendants in this case are employees of3tate of Texas or state agencies;
therefore, plaintiff's claims seeking monetary dges against all defendants in their official
capacities are barred by the Eleventh Amendm&ae Will v. Michigan Dept of Sate Police,
491 U.S. 58, 71 (1989) (suit not against officiat Btate office)Oliver v. Scott, 276 F.3d 736,
742, 742 n. 5 (5th Cir. 2002). Accordingly, aldichs for monetary relief against all defendants
in their official capacities are subject to disnalss

B. Qualified Immunity

Qualified immunity shields government officialserforming discretionary
functions “from civil damages liability as long #&seir actions could reasonably have been
thought consistent with the rights they are allegeldave violated.”Anderson v. Creighton, 483
U.S. 635, 638 (1987). “Whether a defendant asgequalified immunity may be personally
liable turns on the objective legal reasonableéghe defendant’s actions assessed in light of
clearly established law.Fraire v. City of Arlington, 957 F.2d 1268, 1272 (5th Cir. 1992). In
assessing the applicability of a qualified immundgfense, the court considers “whether
plaintiff's allegations, if true, establish a catgional violation” and whether defendants’
actions violated “clearly established statutoryconstitutional rights of which a reasonable
person would have known.Hope v. Pelzer, 536 U.S. 730, 736 (2002). When a defendant
invokes qualified immunity, the burden is on thaipliff to demonstrate the inapplicability of
the defense.McClendon v. City of Columbia, 305 F.3d 314, 322 (5th Cir. 2002). Even so, on
summary judgment, the court must look to the ewdepefore it in the light most favorable to

the plaintiff when conducting a qualified immunibquiry. Id. at 323.
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1. Conspiracy to Make Changes to Medical Restristio

Plaintiff claims that Dr. Adams conspired with kfan Collins and Case Manger
Harris to assign plaintiff to work in the canneryJuly 2005, by arbitrarily removing eight of
plaintiff's permanent medical restrictions on Nov®n 16, 2004, without conducting a physical
examination. (Docket Entries No.17, page 3, No@e 5). Plaintiff claims that Dr. Owusu
told him on October 12, 2005, after plaintiff hagebh re-assigned to the laundry, that someone
from the UCC,j.e., Collins or Harris, had called the medical deparnt and asked that inmates
be medically reclassified so that they could bégassi to work. (Docket Entry No.17 page 4).

To establish a § 1983 cause of action based gpaspiracy, a plaintiff must
allege facts that, liberally construed, establidh defendants’ participation in a conspiracy
involving state action, and (2) a deprivation f bivil rights in furtherance of the conspiracy by
a party to the conspiracyPfannstiel v. City of Marion, 918 F.2d 1178, 1187 (5th Cir. 1990),
abrogated on other grounds by Martin v. Thomas, 973 F.2d 449 (5th Cir. 1992). Plaintiff must
also show that the conspirators had an agreemecdrtonit an illegal act that resulted in the
plaintiff's injury. Arsenaux v. Roberts, 726 F.2d 1022, 1024 (5th Cir. 198ZJjomas v. City of
New Orleans, 687 F.2d 80, 83 (5th Cir. 1982).

Although plaintiff was seen by Dr. Owusu on O&oth2, 2005, for complaints of
chronic lower back pain (Docket Entry No.43-3, padeB), the record reflects no evidence that
Collins, Harris, or any other defendant requested Dr. Adams modify plaintiff's HSM-18 in
2004. Moreover, the record reflects no evidencarof kind of agreement among defendants.
Nor is there any evidence that Dr. Adams modifiednpiff’'s permanent medical restrictions to

effectuate a new job assignment.
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UTMB policy dictates that the “HSM-18 may be mwed and revised at the
discretion of a physician” or other specific heattire professionals. (Docket Entry No.42-9,
page 2). The record shows that Dr. Adams exampianhtiff on November 16, 2004, for
complaints of gastritis and acid refléix(Docket Entry No.42-2, pages 3-4. 14-15). Pitiist
medical history was outlined on the examinatiorordc (d.). Adams specifically noted that
plaintiff was an obese male.|d(). Adams prescribed medication, discontinued npi&s
medical utility assignment and restricted him tmited walking and no lifting over twenty
pounds on the HSM-18. (Docket Entries No.42-2,e8ad, 15; No.42-4, page 18). Adams’s
actions were in accordance with UTMB policy, whibes not provide for permanent medical
restrictions. (Docket Entries N0.42-9, page 2;4¥e2, page 3).

On November 18, 2004, plaintiff was assignedh®e tannery. (Docket Entry
No0.42-14, pages 5-6). On December 14, 2004, Drugdwexamined plaintiff's complaints of
“generalized musculoskeletal pain especially o&ttiured left shoulder.” (Docket Entry No. 43,
pages 3-4). Owusu recommended that plaintiff Isgasd to the medical utility squadld.(
page 4). He did not modify plaintiffs HSM-18. @lsame day, plaintiff was re-assigned to the
medical utility squad. (Docket Entry No.42-14, pa§). Plaintiff remained medically
unassigned for almost eight months. (Docket Emopi42-14, page 4). During this time,
plaintiffs HSM-18 was not modified. (Docket Erds N0.42-11, page 4; No.42-14, page 4).

The record further shows that plaintiff's medicastrictions were appropriate to

his physical condition and medical record. Dr. @we Murray, Chief Physician Executive with

% Plaintiff's medical records show that on NovemBeR004, plaintiff was examined by medical persompen his
return to the Terrell Unit, in accordance with TBCID policy. (Docket Entries No.42-4, pages 24-R&y.42-5,
pages 1-5; No.42-9, pages 2-7). He was medicalgsigned. (Docket Entry No.42-14, page 5).
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UTMB, attests that his review of plaintiff's media&cord reflects the following, in pertinent

part:

Mr. Childress is a 68 year old male who entered JDOOctober of 1986.
He had a self-reported history of several lowerkbiaguries, injuries to

both shoulders, including a fractured left collanb, and seizures. Mr.
Childress was, and has been, seen promptly anatesjie by healthcare
staff for his complaints during his incarceration.

* * * * *

Dr. Adams . . . reviewed Mr. Childress’s medicata®l, specifically his
previous radiology studies. Based upon these weyieDr. Adams
modified Mr. Childress’'s HSM-18, discontinuing hisnedically

unassigned (job) status and adding restrictionsinmted walking (less
than 500 yards) and a lifting restriction (no geeadhan twenty pounds).
When Mr. Childress complained about these charfgesyas seen by Dr.
Owusu approximately a month later who concurred whie HSM 18 as
modified by Dr. Adams.

| believe that these changes to the HSM-18 werdipdy based upon my
experience as a correctional physician and basesh upy clinical
judgment. None of the radiology examinations @& llimbar spine done
in 1997, 1998, and 2005 are consistent with théepés complaint of
severe debilitating pain or history of multiple unaatic injuries. Mr.
Childress has six lumbar vertebrae; this is seempproximately 10% of
the population and is not associated with any mmed risk of pain or
additional pathology. There is no evidence of aattaritis or any disc
abnormalities which would be commonly associatetth wignificant lower
back syndromes. This lack of findings was demawstt even as late as
the 2005 films.

(Docket Entry No.47-2, pages 2-3).

Plaintiff states no facts and presents no evieetac contravene this record.

Because the record does not reflect any agreeneéwebn Adams, Collins, Harris, or any other

defendant to modify plaintiff's work restrictionsnahe HSM-18 and no evidence that Drs.

Adams and Owusu did not follow protocol when moudify plaintiffs medical restrictions,

plaintiff has failed to overcome the qualified imniy defense. Accordingly, defendants are
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entitled to summary judgment on this ground. Femtiore, plaintiff's conspiracy claims against
all defendants are subject to dismissal.

2. Retaliation

Plaintiff claims that Warden Collins and Case Wiger Harris requested
plaintiff's medical restrictions be changed andigresd him to the cannery in retaliation for a
letter that plaintiff sent to Collins in July 2008,grievance that plaintiff filed in August 2005,
and a lawsuit that he filed in 1989 against twoeottorrectional officers. (Docket Entry No.1,
pages 3, 9). Plaintiff also believes that Collaml Harris retaliated against him because he is
Native American. (Docket Entry No.22, page 1).

Plaintiff further claims defendants Linda PetersDeborah Hennenberg, Felicia
Bouttee, Alice Pacheco, and Paul Jung, and all dadefendants, intended to cause him to
suffer unnecessary pain and to punish him in @gtah for refusing to endure the unnecessary
pain in his work assignment. (Docket Entry No.gages 7-8).

To state a valid claim for retaliation under g@att1983, an inmate must allege
more than his personal belief that he was themiaf retaliation. Johnson v. Rodriguez, 110
F.3d 299, 310 (5th Cir. 1997). Mere conclusorggditions of retaliation are not enoud¥ioody
v. Baker, 857 F.2d 256, 258 (5th Cir. 1988). He must &l€t) a specific constitutional right,
(2) the defendant’s intent to retaliate againsthgoner for his or her exercise of that righ), 43
retaliatory adverse act, and (4) causatidones v. Greninger, 188 F.3d 322, 324-25 (5th Cir.
1999). The inmate must allege facts showing thdef@ndant possessed a retaliatory motive.
See Whittington v. Lynaugh, 842 F.2d 818, 820 (5th Cir. 1988jilliard v. Board of Pardons and
Paroles, 759 F.2d 1190, 1193 (5th Cir. 1985). He “musiduce direct evidence of motivation

or, the more probable scenario, ‘allege a chronplofj events from which retaliation may
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plausibly be inferred.” Id. (citation omitted). Moreover, he must show tHatit for” a
retaliatory motive, the defendants would not havgaged in the actionMcDonald v. Steward,
132 F.3d 225, 231 (5th Cir. 1998).

Plaintiff's chronology of events does not giveerito an inference of a retaliatory
motive to change plaintiff's medical restrictioms 2004 and to assign him to the cannery. The
1989 lawsuit occurred years before the restrictiwase changed and plaintiff states no facts to
show that defendants were upset or even awareedsutit. The 2005 grievances and plaintiff's
letter to Collins were filed months after Adams fpad the medical restrictions on the HSM-18
in November, 2004. Plaintiff states no facts towlthat Collins, Harris, or anyone requested
that Adams change plaintiff's medical restrictiori® the extent that plaintiff claims that Collins
or Harris requested that Owusu change the restngtithe Court notes that Dr. Owusu did not
modify plaintiff's medical restrictions, exceptaold a four-hour work restriction.

Likewise, the record does not show that Collidasris, or any other defendant
expressed a dislike for Native Americans. Pldistdllegations of retaliation and discrimination
with respect to all defendants are speculativea@mtlusory. Accordingly, plaintiff's claims of
retaliation by all defendants are subject to disalis

3. Job Assignment

Plaintiff contends that defendants violated thghth Amendment by assigning
him to the cannery and laundry in violation of hisedical restrictions. “[P]rison work
requirements which compel inmates to perform playd@bor which is beyond their strength,
endangers their lives, or causes undue pain cotesticruel and unusual punishmentbward
v. King, 707 F.2d 215, 219 (5th Cir. 1983). If a prisofiatdl knowingly assigns an inmate to a

job he or she realizes may significantly aggraweaserious physical ailment, then such a decision
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would constitute deliberate indifference to serionedical needs that may violate the Eighth
Amendment’s prohibition against cruel and unusuatighment. Jackson v. Cain, 864 F.2d
1235, 1246 (5th Cir. 19893ee also Calhoun v. Hargrove, 312 F.3d 730, 734-35 (5th Cir. 2002)
(finding claim sufficient to survive a motion tosthniss where prison official purportedly knew
about a four hour medical work restriction but fmdnmate to work long hours, which raised
blood pressure to dangerously high levels). Aigegk assignment to work that is beyond the
prisoner's physical abilities, however, is not unmstitutional. Jackson, 864 F.2d at 1246.
Moreover, a mere disagreement about a work assighmees not amount to deliberate
indifference. See e.g. Douglasv. McCasland, 194 Fed. Appx. 192 (5th Cir. 2006) (finding claim
frivolous where plaintiff fails to show that defeards knowingly assigned him work that would
significantly aggravate his medical conditioR);eeman v. Alford, 48 F.3d 530 (5th Cir. 1995)
(not designated for publication). Moreover, to@ed on a civil rights claim, plaintiff must
show that his job assignment significantly aggrestad serious physical ailmendackson, 864
F.2d at 1246-47.

The record shows that plaintiff was initially egsed to the cannery on November
18, 2004, after Dr. Adams modified his medical negons on the HSM-18. (Docket Entry
No.42-14, pages 5-6). Thereafter, plaintiff sulbaditseveral sick call requests complaining of
the modifications to his HSM-18 and of increasirgjnpin his left shoulder and neck from
working at a conveyor in the cannery. (Docket f£MND.42-4, pages 9-11). On December 14,
2004, Dr. Owusu noted that plaintiff had been madjcunassigned but was now reassigned to
the cannery. (Docket Entry No. 43, pages 3-4). oHgerved that plaintiff walked with a cane

and appeared to be in paind.J. Owusu recommended that plaintiff be assigoetthé¢ medical
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utility squad. [(d.). The same day, plaintiff was re-assigned to rinedical utility squad.
(Docket Entry No.42-14, page 6).

Plaintiff remained medically unassigned for alin@ght months. (Docket Entry
No0.42-14, page 4). Plaintiff returned to the Tkrdmnit on July 25, 2005, and was screened by
medical personnel on the 27th and 28th. (DockdtyEN0.42-4, pages 19-22). Plaintiff's
medical restrictions on his HSM-18 were not modifieOn July 27, 2005, plaintiff was again
assigned to the cannery. (Docket Entry No.42-adept).

Plaintiff attempted to have his restrictions nfiedi. On August 5, 9, and 18,
plaintiff submitted sick call requests on see atoloso that he would return to the medically
unassigned status but he did not complain of aifspeéwcjury from the work. (Docket Entry
No.42-3, pages 6, 10, 13). Plaintiff was inforntledt the medical staff did not recommend jobs
and that he should go up the chain of command aurgg if restrictions were not being
followed. (d.). He complained in other sick call requestsahpdizziness, and seizures that he
attributed to working in the cannetyHe refused to turn out for work on August 8, 0, &nd
22, 2005, was given a disciplinary case for eaclation. (Docket Entry No.42-10, pages 3, 4,

5, 6).

* On August 8, 2005, he complained of pain in hisdboulder. (Docket Entry No.42-3, page 11). w#es asked if
there had been any recent trauméd.)( On August 11, 2005, he requested to see adémt severe pain in his
lower back and shoulder. (Docket Entry No.42-33ep8). He was instructed to pick up Tylenol fraome tpill
window. (d.). On August 16, 2005, plaintiff was seen in ithi@mary by Nurse Hennenberg’'s as a walk-in on a
complaint that he was hot and dizzy in the cannéBocket Entry No.42-2, page 24). Plaintiff demdad to see a
doctor about his restrictions.ld(). Plaintiff was told to submit a sick call regtie (d.). On August 16, 2005,
plaintiff complained of black-out seizures while abrk in the cannery. (Docket Entry No0.42-3, paQe On
August 18, 2005, Physician’s Assistant Jung savingifeifor complaints of seizures and work in thanoery.
(Docket Entry No.42-2, page 11). Jung noted narchéstory of seizures and advised plaintiff tocdiss his work
assignment with security.ld). On August 28, 2005, plaintiff requested Dr. @w to order a new back brace to
replace the one that was taken when he returned &obench warrant because the work in the cannay w
aggravating his lower back pain. (Docket Entry4AM3, page 4). Plaintiff was informed that therimfry did not
issue back braces and questioned about the protiléninis vertebra. 1¢.).
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On August 25, 2005, plaintiff was assigned tgacsal cannery force. (Docket
Entry No.42-14, page 4). Plaintiff submitted Stefsrievance No0.2005227319 the next day,
complaining that he was wrongfully assigned todhenery because of his medical restrictions.
(Docket Entry No.42-11, pages5-6). Warden Coltesponded on September 13, 2005, that the
Medical Department had reported that plaintiff Heekn examined on September 1, 2005, and
the provider found no medical indications to addHer restrictions. I¢l., page 6). In response
to plaintiff's Step 2 Grievance, the Director ofifital Services noted that since November 16,
2004, plaintiff’'s work restrictions had not changedcept on September 13, 2005, a physician
added a four-hour limited work restrictiond. page 4).

Plaintiff did, however, experience some problesmisle at work, which medical
personnel found suspect. On September 1, 2005eNBacheco was called to the cannery,
where she found plaintiff was on the floor compilagnthat he could not move because he hurt
his back. (Docket Entry No.42-2, page 22). Pitimdicated that his cane slipped and he
twisted at the waist and fell.ldf). Pacheco noted that plaintiff ambulated to tieechair and
bent over at his waist; he also complained of jgaid of working in the canneryld(). Plaintiff
told Pacheco that he had warned everyone that beguiag to fall. d.). Pacheco referred him
to a provider. Pacheco later observed plaintiffking out of medical with a cane and down the
hall at a rapid pace.ld;, page 21). He turned at the waist when callechfanother offender,
laughed and continued to walk at a rapid pace argkd his hand over his head to wave at
another offender.1d.).

Plaintiff was seen by Nurse Patricia Jones onstrae day. I¢., pages 9-10).
She noted that plaintiff had made it clear thadtstiked his job in the cannery; she also noted
that plaintiff had recently come up with a new cdant of seizures for ten years that had never
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been documentedld,, page 10). Jones observed plaintiff sitting irhaicin the nurse’s station
for three hours, eating lunch and talking with otbf#enders. Id.). She noted that he did not
grimace or guard his movements; he walked usingchise and got on the table without
assistance. Id.). Plaintiff, however, complained of severe pairthe L4, L5, and L6, and said
that he had suffered such pain since 1978 andhbatad been declared disabled in 1986.
Plaintiff also stated that he had lower back x-reiy$989, but none sinceld(). Jones ordered
x-rays. (d.).

The x-ray report dated December 12, 2005, shaeete narrowing of plaintiff's
L4-L5 disc and evidence of minimal spondylolistlaesf L5 on S1; spondylolysis at the L5 level
could not be ruled out, but no acute pathology seen. (Docket Entry No.44-5, page 3). Nurse
Jones reviewed the report on December 27, 2005natadl that no further action was required.
(Docket Entry No0.42-8, pages 12-13).

Dr. Owens opines, as follows, that plaintiff's ngolaints of pain were
exaggerated:

Mr. Childress has a subjective complaint of painhia back; however

neither the radiology studies nor the objectivedifigs on physical

examination correlate with his presentation. T&isot uncommon in the

prison setting. In my experience, correctional iggas will often

exaggerate their subjective complaints in an etmgarner the analgesics

or work modifications they seek, a circumstancevkmas secondary gain.

In these cases, as with Mr. Childress, their pasoiies of injury are not

documented and more importantly, their objectivelifigs do not support

their complaint.

(Docket Entry No.47-2, page 3).

19



Plaintiff, nevertheless, continued to submit stek requests seeking modification
of his work restrictions. (Docket Entry No.42-3, pages 1-2). On Septer8h@005, plaintiff's
job was changed to the laundry by the UCC. (Do&kety No.42-14, page 4). On September 9,
2005, plaintiff filed a sick call request complaigithat his problems went from bad to worse
and requesting a four-hour work restriction. (Detckntry No.42-2, page 25). On September
13, 2005, Dr. Owusu added a four-hour limited wastriction. (Docket Entries No.42-11, page
4, No.44-5, page 20). Dr. Owusu examined plairdgiif October 12, 2005, for complaints of
chronic lower back pain. (Docket Entry No.43-3ges 7-8). Plaintiff was assigned as a folder
in the laundry on July 3, 2006. (Docket Entry NbW, page 4).

On October 10, 2006, submitted a sick call regtesee a doctor about getting
all his medical restrictions put back on the comeputecause of his “painful medical chronic
conditions.” (Docket Entry No.44, page 19). Ispense, plaintiff was asked “what can’'t you
do?” (d.). On November 30, 2006, Dr. Owusu recommended piaintiff be medically
unassigned for three weeks because of skin condima noted the same on plaintiff's HSM-18.
(Docket Entries N0.42-6, page 11, No.44-5, page T@) December 28, 2006, Dr. Owusu noted
plaintiff's work assignment restrictions on the HEM as no walking over 500 yards, no lifting
over twenty pounds, and a four-hour limited worktnetion. (Docket Entry No.44-5, page 18).
At the expiration of the three-week period, pldintvas assigned to the medical utility squad.
(Docket Entry No.42-14, page 3). The record doatsreflect that plaintiff was re-assigned to

the cannery or the laundry thereafter.

®> On September 6, 2005, plaintiff submitted a siak request seeking crutches and a four-hour wesitriction.
(Docket Entry No.42-3, page 2). On September 8520laintiff submitted another sick call requdstting that the
UCC ordered him to see Dr. Owusu for a modificatiorhis work restrictions. (Docket Entry No.42ghge 1).
Plaintiff was advised that classification woulchdehim to medical and no order that he been sékeh). Plaintiff
was also advised that medical staff was waitinghenx-ray report. 1¢l.).
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In short, the record reflects that TDCJ and UTMfHcials at the Terrell Unit
were aware of plaintiff's complaints regarding tisrk restrictions, his back and shoulder pain,
and his dislike of his job assignments. Medicatspanel, however, found that plaintiff's
complaints of physical injury and pain did not cartpwith radiology reports, medical
examinations, or their observations of plaintifftive infirmary. Plaintiff's medical restrictions
were modified in accordance with medical decisibased upon a physical examination and not
upon plaintiff’'s subjective complaints.

Plaintiff concedes that his back injury is nappfing all the time; he complains
that “the work he was assigned to do increase[d]p&in and aggravated the lower back long
standing medical painful condition.” (Docket Entip.50, page 9). He explains that “[t]he fact
that plaintiff did received [sic] somewhat effeditreatment of some of his medical conditions,
that does not mean that the treatment to his Idwamk painful condition, including work
assignment[,] was effective within the requirementthe statutory duty imposed upon the
defendants by color of their employment with TD@J-tnd U.T.M.B.” (d.). Plaintiff,
however, states no facts to show that defendastgresi a job in the cannery and the laundry
that did not comport with the restrictions as medifby Drs. Adams and Owusu. Moreover,
plaintiff’'s medical records do not reflect that ipk&f's work in either job caused him to suffer
substantial physical harm.

Accordingly, plaintiff fails to show that defemita violated the Eighth
Amendment by the work that he was assigned to parfat the Terrell Unit. Defendants,

therefore, are entitled to summary judgment orr tipealified immunity claim.
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4. Deliberate Indifference to Medical Condition

The Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against craeld unusual punishment
forbids deliberate indifference to the serious roaldneeds of prisonerEstelle v. Gamble, 429
U.S. 97, 104 (1976). The plaintiff must prove alipely that he was exposed to a substantial
risk of serious harm.Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 834 (1994). The plaintiff mustoals
show that prison officials acted or failed to adgthmdeliberate indifference to that riskd. at
834. The deliberate indifference standard is gestibe inquiry; the plaintiff must establish that
the prison officials were actually aware of thekyiget consciously disregarded itd. at 837,
839; Lawson v. Dallas County, 286 F.3d 257, 262 (5th Cir. 2002). “[F]acts ugag a claim of
‘deliberate indifference’ must clearly evince thedital need in question and the alleged official
dereliction.” Johnson v. Treen, 759 F.2d 1236, 1238 (5th Cir. 1985). “The legahclusion of
‘deliberate indifference,’ therefore, must restfants clearly evincing ‘wanton’ actions on the
part of the defendants.I'd. Mere negligence does not constitute a sectior3 t@8se of action.
Estelle, 429 U.S. at 106)Vagner v. Bay City, 227 F.3d 316, 324 (5th Cir. 2000) (“the subjestiv
intent to cause harm cannot be inferred fromfailure to act reasonably”).

Deliberate indifference to serious medical nesds/ be manifested by prison
doctors in their response to the prisoner’'s needsy@rison guards in intentionally denying or
delaying access to medical care or intentionaltgriering with the treatment once prescribed.
Estelle, 429 U.S. at 104-05. Delay in obtaining medicahtment does not constitute deliberate
indifference unless it is shown that the delay Iteguin substantial harmMendoza v. Lynaugh,
989 F.2d 191, 195 (5th Cir. 1993).

To the extent that plaintiff claims that Dr. Adamwas deliberately indifferent to

his serious medical needs when he removed eighingrant work restrictions without
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conducting a physical examination, plaintiff faidsscontravene summary judgment evidence that
shows otherwise.

Likewise, plaintiff fails to contravene summanydgment evidence that shows
that Dr. Owusu was not deliberately indifferentplaintiff's serious medical needs because he
refused to restore the eight permanent work rémins. Plaintiff's medical records and expert
opinion reflect that the restrictions were appraf@i Moreover, Dr. Owusu was attentive to
plaintiff's complaints. He recommended on one saathat plaintiff be moved to the medical
utility squad; he also added a four hour work restm upon plaintiff's request, and
recommended that plaintiff be medically unassigoechuse of a skin condition.

Moreover, the record does not support plaintiéiéstention that Dr. Owusu was
deliberately indifferent to plaintiff's other seti® medical needs, such as plaintiff's hand, heel,
and nose conditions. (Docket Entry N0.30). Theore shows that plaintiff requested to see Dr.
Owusu about carpal tunnel syndrome surgery in $apte, 2006, and was told that he had an
appointment in December with a doctor. (DocketrfEio0.44-2, page 12). The record does not
show that Dr. Owusu examined plaintiff for carpatriel syndrome or that he refused plaintiff's
request for a referral to a hand specialist. bhubteplaintiff was examined by other medical
providers, one of whom referred plaintiff to anhmpedic hand specialit. (Docket Entries

No.42-7, page 12; No.43, pages 15, 17).

® On October 5, 2006, after plaintiff submitted giek call request about his hand, plaintiff wasegiva physical
examination by Todd Bouton; plaintiff reported ranplaints to Bouton. (Docket Entry N0.43-3, pades). On

July 17, 2007, plaintiff was seen by Dr. Ward forisiv pain; she referred him to an orthopedic hapecwlist.

(Docket Entries No.42-7, page 12; No.43, pagesl¥}, On February 7, 2008, plaintiff saw Nurse Nwodho

noted that plaintiff's left hand brace was too B@nd that Ms. Kennington would replace the braitke a&vsmaller
one. (Docket Entry No.43, page 10). On Februar30®8, plaintiff requested another appointmerdiscuss hand
surgery. (Docket Entry No.43-7, page 4). Plaintids informed that the issue had been addressin &ebruary
8, 2008 clinic visit and that a new hand brace todse issued. Id.).
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The record also shows that Dr. Owusu was respertsiplaintiff's complaints of
sinus congestion and a possible deviated septurdeeed an x-ray of plaintiff's nose. (Docket
Entry No.42-7, page 2). Owusu noted upon reviewthef x-rays, which showed a “slight
rightward deviation of bony septum,” that he woulder plaintiff to a specialist if plaintiff
continued to have problems. (Docket Entry No.4pd&ge 25). When plaintiff requested to see
Dr. Owuso on February 6, 2008, about nose x-rdgentan December 19, 2007, he was referred
to the ear, nose, and throat specialist . (DoEkéty No0.43-7, page 6).

To the extent that plaintiff complains of Dr. Osws failure to prescribe an
effective medication for heel pain, he fails tastan actionable claim. Without more, plaintiff's
dissatisfaction with the medical treatment he nemtidoes not mean that he suffered deliberate
indifference. See e.g., Norton v. Dimazana, 122 F.3d 286, 291-92 (5th Cir. 199¥%arnado v.
Lynaugh, 920 F.2d 320, 321 (5th Cir. 1991) (holding innmtelisagreement with his medical
treatment” not sufficient to show Eighth Amendmeidlation); Fielder v. Bosshard, 590 F.2d
105, 107 (5th Cir. 1979) (finding “[m]ere negligencneglect or medical malpractice is
insufficient” to show Eighth Amendment violation).

Plaintiff further complains that defendants Lin@aterson, Deborah Hennenberg,
Felicia Bouttee, Alice Pacheco, and Paul Jung “hapeatedly interfered with my trying to
[indeciplerable] doctor and effective medical treaht of my medical needs.” (Docket Entry
No0.30, page 7). Plaintiff complained in his origirtomplaint that Peterson refused to inform
Case Manager Harris that plaintiff's job assignmeats hazardous to his health, although he
noted that she tried to assign him to a differeatien of the cannery, where it was not too hot.
(Docket Entry No.1, page 8). He complained thatdsduHennenberg, Physician’s Assistant
Jung, and Nurse Pacheco refused his request & daetor about his medical restrictionsd. ).
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Plaintiff also complained that Physician’s Assist&outtee prescribed Tylenol and refused to
talk with Peterson about the medical restrictior(d., page 9). He further complained that
Hennenberg and Jung did not provide adequate tepdtfar his seizures in mid-August, 2008.
(1d.).

The record, however, does not reflect that anferdkant intentionally or
deliberately denied plaintiff access to medicalecaath the intent that he should suffer harm.
Instead, the record reflects that plaintiff peesily attempted to see a physician, whom he
thought would change his medical restrictions guesst that he be re-assigned to a new job, and
that these defendants did not facilitate plairditittempts to see Dr. Owusu or to change his job
assignment. Likewise, the record reflects thainpfareceived medical attention for his alleged
seizures in mid-August, although not the treatmbat he desired or thought would facilitate a
job change.

Dr. Owens opined that plaintiff “was, and hasrhesen promptly and repeatedly
by healthcare staff for his complaints during imesation.” (Docket Entry No.47-2, page 2).
The record supports Dr. Owens’s attestation.

Because plaintiff has not shown a genuine isdueaterial fact on his Eighth
Amendment claims, such claims against all defersdarg subject to dismissal.

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Court ORDERS thewig:

1. Defendants’ motion for summary judgment (Docket rignNo.42) is
GRANTED. All claims against defendants Anthony Qollins, Dr.
Charles D. Adams, and Dr. Kwabena Owusu are DISEMZSVITH
PREJUDICE.

2. All claims against all other defendants are DISMEES WITH
PREJUDICE as legally frivolous pursuant to 28 U.$@915(e)(2)(B).
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3. All pending motions, if any, ARE DENIED.
4. This civil action is DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.

Itis so ORDERED.

SIGNED at Houston, Texas, this 26th day of Mag&31(9.

-

W%—/ﬁﬂ&_‘

MELINDA HARMON
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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